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Statement of the Case!

Commission) issued an unpublished decision in this case,

finding that the Boston School Committee (the School
Committee) had violated Sections 10(a)(3) and (1) of M.G.L.
¢.150E (the Law) by laying off thirty-nine (39) temporary and pro-
visional custodians in retaliation for engaging in protected, con-
certed activity and ordering the School Committee, inter alia, to:

On March 2, 1994, the Labor Relations Commission (the

Make the temporary and provisional custodians whole for any loss
of wages or other benefits which they have suffered as a result of
their unlawful layoffs, plus interest on all sums due calculated in the
manner specified in Everert School Committee, 10 MLC 1609
(1984).

The Appeals Court? subsequently affirmed the Commission’s de-
cision and order and, on June 11, 1996, the Supreme Judicial
Court® denied the School Committee’s request for further appel-
late review. Both the School Committee and the Boston Public
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School Buildings Custodians® Association (the Association) sub-
sequently asked the Commission to assist in determining the
amount of back pay owed to each of the affected employees as are-
sult of the Commission’s order.

Following a series of pre-hearing conferences, Mark A. Preble,
Esq., a duly-designated Commission hearing officer (Hearing Of-
ficer), conducted a hearing between October 27, 1997 and May 5,
1998, at which the parties had a full opportunity to be heard, to
examine® and cross-examine witnesses, and to introduce evi-
dence.’ On September 15, 1998, the parties filed Joint Stipulations
of Fact, which were incorporated into the Findings of Fact. Both
parties filed briefs on or about January 18, 2000. The Hearing Offi-
cer issued Recommended Findings of Fact on March 13, 2002. On
May 6, 2002, the parties filed challenges to the Recommend Find-
ings of Fact, and the School Committee filed a motion requesting
to file a supplemental brief. That motion was allowed, and the
School Committee and the Union filed supplemental briefs on
May 28, 2002 and June 13, 2002 respectively. The parties filed re-
sponses to each other’s challenges to the Recommended Findings
of Fact on May 28, 2002.

Throughout the compliance proceeding, the parties worked dili-
gently to resolve as many claims as possible. Due to their efforts,
the original class of thirty-nine (39) custodians to whom the
School Committee owed back wages or other benefits was re-
duced to eight (8) employees. Accordingly, this Supplementary
Decision on Compliance is limited to the issues concerning the re-
maining eight custodians.

Findings of Factt

Both the Union and the School Committec challenged portions of
the Hearing Officer’s Recommended Findings of Fact. After re-
viewing those challenges and the record. we adopt the Hearing Of-
ficer’s Recommended Findings of Fact and summarize the rele-
vant portions below.

Introduction

The City of Boston (the City) is a public employer within the
meaning of Section | of the Law. The School Committee is the
representative of the City for the purpose of dealing with school
employees. The Association is an employee organization within
the meaning of Section 1 of the Law and is the exclusive collective
bargaining representative for certain custodians employed by the
School Committee.

Prior to June 30, 1992, the School Committee employed several
temporary or provisional custodians.” In August 1991, a dispute

1. The Commission has designated this case as one in which the Commission will
issue a decision in the first instance pursuant to 456 CMR 13.02(2).

2. The Appeals Court’s decision is reported at 40 Mass. App. Ct. 327 (1996).
3. The Supreme Judicial Court’s order is reported at 422 Mass. 1111 (1996).

4. In lieu of direct testimony, the Association offered affidavits signed by each of
the custodians.

5. In a ruling dated April 26, 1999, the Hearing Officer allowed the School Com-
mittee to substitute certain documents for documents that it had offered during the
course of the hearing. On May 12, 1999, the School Committee filed those substi-
tute documents.

6. The Commission’s jurisdiction in this matter is uncontested.

7. Under civil service rules, employees who are hired from a civil service list are
considered permanent employees. However, a public employer may also hire em-
ployees as temporary or provisional if there is no active or certified list from which
permanent appointments may be made.
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arose concerning whether the temporary and provisional custodi-
ans were or should be in the bargaining unit represented by the As-
sociation. The dispute generated a grievance, a charge of prohib-
ited practice, and numerous discussions between the parties.
Ultimately, the Association filed two representation petitions with
the Commission, seeking either to add-on or accrete the temporary
and provisional custodians into the bargaining unit represented by
the Association. A Commission hearing officer scheduled a hear-
ing for July 3, 1992. On or about June 25, 1992, the School Com-
mittee informed all of the temporary and provisional custodians
that they would be laid off, effective June 30, 1992. On January 22,
1997, following the Supreme Judicial Court’s decision to deny the
School Committee’s Request for Further Appellate Review, the
School Committee offered to reinstate those employees who had
not been previously re-hired.

At the time of the layoffs on June 30, 1992, the following employ-
ees were night junior custodians: Thomas Bumns (Burns), James
Camney (Carney), Robert Fallon (Fallon), Fran Rometo (F.
Romero), Gesenia Romero (G. Romero), Berenice Tejeda (B.
Tejeda), and Luis Tejeda (L. Tejeda). At that time, the weekly pay
rate for a night junior custodian was $483.07. At the time of the
layoffs, Thomas Mullen (Mullen) was a day junior custodian and
received a weekly rate of pay of $458.07.

As more fully described below, many of the laid off employees re-
ceived unemployment compensation for part of the back pay pe-
riod. The City subscribes to a reimbursable system to finance its
unemployment insurance costs. Under that system, the City does
not make quarterly unemployment insurance contributions.
Rather, the City is billed monthly for the costs associated with any
benefits actually paid to employees. The parties have stipulated
that any unemployment compensation benefits received by the
laid off employees were paid by the City. The parties have further
stipulated that, if the Commission ordered the laid off employees
to reimburse the Department of Employment and Training (DET)
for any unemployment benefits received during the layoff period,
the DET would ultimately reimburse the City for those amounts.

The unemployment rate in the Boston area fell sharply during the
period between July 1992 and January 1997. The chart below
shows the average annual unemployment rates for both the City of
Boston and the Boston Metropolitan Statistical Area® from 1992
through January 1997:

YEAR CIY OF BOSTON WSW
1992 8.0 7.6
1993 6.6 6.0
1994 58 5.2
1995 54 47
1996 45 3z
1997¢ 44 38

Massachusetts Labor CasesVolume 29

The average duration of unemployment in Massachusetts also
dropped during that period. For example, in 1992, 21.9% of those
unemployed were unemployed for less than five weeks, compared
with 31.6%in 1996. In 1992, 21.8% of those unemployed were un-
employed for fifty-two weeks or more, compared with only 7.2%
in 1996. The chart below shows the average duration of unemploy-
ment in Massachusetts from 1992 through 1996:

Yecr <5Wooks 5-14Wooks 15-26Weeks 27-S1Weeks 52 +Woeks
1992 29 255 12.7 131 218
1993 281 271 17.1 101 177
1994 289 29.7 16.2 94 158
1995 30.0 34.1 144 8.6 129
1996 36 330 167 11.4 72

Many of the custodians had taken civil service examinations both
prior to and after the layoffs. The civil service examination process
begins with an application and is followed by a written examina-
tion. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts Human Resources Di-
vision (HRD) then corrects and tabulates the examinations. From
the individual scores, HRD compiles an overall list of candidates
ranked by score.'® From that list, HRD generates lists for commu-
nities seeking to fill a vacancy. Because candidates can also indi-
cate geographical preferences, the lists generated for the individ-
ual communities only contain those candidates who have listed
that community as a preference. The overall list compiled follow-
ing an examination is only valid until the next examination has
been administered and a new list is compiled. Therefore, to be con-
sidered for positions that are offered following subsequent exami-
nations, a candidate must take and pass the subsequent examina-
tion.

Each list generated for communities seeking to fill a vacancy also
contains a place for each candidate listed to sign his or her name to
indicate that, if selected, he or she will accept the appointment. For
a candidate to be considered for a position, he or she must person-
ally appear and sign the list.

At the same time it sends the list to the community, HRD mails a
card announcing the vacancy to each of the candidates on the list.
The cards indicate the appointing authority, the position offered.
and the deadline for applying. However, unless the candidate noti-
fies HRD of a change of address, HRD uses the address that the
candidate originally listed on his or her application. Further, other
than a quality control test to assure that the total number of cards
sent to all of the candidates is equal to the total number of candi-
dates on the list, HRD does not have a procedure to assure that the
cards sent are actually received by the candidates. "’

Seventy percent (70%) is a passing score on the building custo-
dian/municipal service examination. However, HRD requires ap-
pointing authorities to justify the selection of any candidate not

8. The Boston Metropolitan Statistical Area includes Boston and the surrounding
areas up to southern New Hampshire and includes approximately two-thirds of the
Commonwealth’s total workforce.

9. 1997 includes the average unemployment rate for January 1997.

10. Because some classes of employees, like disabled veterans, are given prefer-
ences, those employees move up on the list.

11. [See next page.]
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within the formula “2n + 1,” where “n” is equal to the number of
vacancies. For example, if a community was seeking to fill two va-
cancies, it would be required to justify the selection of any candi-
date who was not among the top five (i.e. 2 x 2 + 1) candidates who
personally appeared and indicated that, if selected, they would ac-
cept the position.

HRD offered examinations for building custodian/municipal ser-
vice in September 1991 and April 1995. Using the lists generated
from those examinations, communities in Massachusetts hired
403 building custodians between the period June 1992 and Febru-
ary 1997. Although many of those positions were in communities
in Westem Massachusetts (e.g.. 14 in Pittsfield, 12 in
Northampton, and 17 in Westfield), many of those positions were
in communities in the Boston area (e.g., 59 in Boston, 31 in
Quincy, and 11 in Somerville).

Each of the civil service positions also has a corresponding stan-
dard job description. The job description of a custodian includes
duties like general cleaning and maintenance of buildings and
grounds. For example, custodians are required to adjust and per-
form preventative maintenance on heating, ventilation, and air
conditioning (HVAC) equipment, move fumiture, replace light
bulbs, collect and dispose of trash, sweep, mop and wax floors, cut
grass, rake leaves, and shovel snow. Custodians are also required
to operate or to use hand tools and cleaning equipment, like floor
polishers, rug shampoo machines, and vacuums.

The skills required to be a custodian are applicable to other occu-
pations. Professor Dana C. Hewins (Professor Hewins)'? testified
that the skills required to be a custodian are comparable to
twenty-seven (27) other job titles within the United States Depart-
ment of Labor’s (DOL) Dictionary of Occupational Titles."” To
reach his opinion, Professor Hewins reviewed the civil service po-
sition description for building custodian and the Boston School
Department position description for junior custodian and used cri-
teria developed by the DOL that considers factors like physical,
mental, and vocation preparation requirements. Based on Profes-
sor Hewins’s opinion, we find that the skills required to be a custo-
dian are generally applicable to the occupations listed in footnote
13.

Professor Hewins and his staff also reviewed the classified adver-
tisements from the Boston Sunday Globe for the period July 1992
through June 1996 and discovered several hundred advertised po-
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sitions that, in Professor Hewins’s opinion, were comparable to a
custodian. To reach that opinion, Professor Hewins looked for po-
sitions that were among those that he had determined were compa-
rable. Although many of the positions that Professor Hewins iden-
tified were, on their face, comparable to a position as a custodian,
others were not. For example, in the February 7, 1993 edition of
the Boston Sunday Globe," Professor Hewins identified a position
listed as “Janitorial” as a comparable position. That position re-
quired only a driver’s license."® However, Professor Hewins also
identified “Horticultural Specialist” as a comparable position.
That position required “a class IT driver’s license, hoister’s license,
familiarity with herbicides and pesticides, and related expeni-
ence.” Professor Hewins also identified positions that required sig-
nificant specialized or supervisory experience or live-in status.
Therefore, although we find that there were some positions adver-
tised in the Boston Sunday Globe during the period July 1992
through January 1997 for which some of the affected custodians
may have been qualified, we do not find that, as a general mdtter,
the positions identified by Professor Hewins were comparable to
the positions held by the affected custodians.

Finally, using all of his research, Professor Hewins testified that, in
his opinion, although a 26-week period of unemployment would
not be extraordinary in 1992, the probability would be “over-
whelmingly high” that a custodian who conducted a “minimally
adequate™® job search would be re-employed after one year."?

After reinstating the remaining custodians on January 22, 1997,
the School Committee supplied each custodian with a question-
naire concerning their activities and income during the period of
the layoff. The questionnaires included the following headings: 1)
Employment During Period; 2) Unemployment Compensation;
and 3) Mitigation. The questionnaire concluded with the statement
“signed under the pains and penalties of perjury,” and had a place
for the employee to sign his or her name. The questionnaire also
asked employees for copies of various tax forms and other sup-
porting documentation. As more fully discussed below, the custo-
dians responded to the questionnaires with varying degrees of
completeness.

Thomas Burns

Burns was forty-one years old at the time of the hearing and has a
tenth-grade education. Prior to his employment with the School
Committee, Burns worked as a warehouse worker. a

11. For example, HRD does not send the cards via certified mail. However, HRD
will correct its records and mail a new card if it receives a retumed card with a for-
warding address.

12. In aruling dated March 6, 1998, the Hearing Officer set certain conditions upon
which the School Committee could present Professor Hewins as an expert witness.
Specifically, the Hearing Officer declined to allow the Union’s motion to depose
the expert prior to hearing, but ordered the School Committee to provide the Union
with any information that was not currently included in the record that the expert
witness intended to rely upon in his testimony no later than thirty (30) days prior to
hearing.

13. Those titles are: custodian, building; janitor, institutional; industrial cleaner;
commercial cleaner; commercial janitor; industrial janitor; institutional cleaner;
laboratory equipment cleaner; floor waxer; floor polisher; carpet cleaner; residen-
tial/restoration cleaner; industrial machine cleaner; hotel housekeeper; hotel por-

ter; restaurant porter; air transportation cleaner; hospital custodian; health care cus-
todian; commercial property cleaner; sanitation worker; environmental service
worker; groundskeeper; greenskeeper; light fixture servicer; maintenance helper;
and mechanic helper.

14. The Hearing Officer randomly selected the February 7, 1993 edition as a repre-
sentative sample. A survey of other editions yielded similar results.

15. That position listed a starting salary of $6.50 per hour.

16. Professor Hewins defined “minimally adequate” as submitting three or more
job applications each week.

17. Professor Hewins also gave his opinion zbout each of the affected custodians
individually, concluding that each should have been able to secure employment
within six to twelve months of their layoff.
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groundskeeper in the Boston Parks Department, and as a rubbish
collector.'® He owns his own automobile and has a class 1 driver’s
license, a class A hoisting license, and a commercial driver’s li-
cense (CDL).

From November 1982, and continuing to the date of the hearing
(including the period of his employment with the School Commit-
tee and the period of his layoff), Bums worked full-time for the
Massachusetts Bay Transportation Authority (MBTA) in a variety
of positions, including laborer and heavy equipment operator. At
the time of his layoff in June 1992, he worked the night shift (12
midnight - 6:45 A.M.) at the MBTA, eaming approximately
$40,000 per year.

In addition to his work at the MBTA, Burns also worked sporadi-
cally as an on-call watchman in 1994 and 1995. However, after
September 1995, he was no longer called. The parties stipulated
that, in addition to his income from the MBTA, Bumns eamed
$1,162.76 during the period of his layoff. Because he worked
full-time for the MBTA, Bums did not receive unemployment
compensation during the period of his layoff.'

After his layoff, Burns responded to announcements for civil ser-
vice custodian positions, including positions in Somerville,
Malden, and Medford and indicated that, if selected, he would ac-
cept the position.2? He also submitted written applications for posi-
tions to B.J.’s Wholesale, Hood’s Milk, R.B. Remodeling,
Somerville Lumber, Home Depot,?' Gerald Hickey Tree Service,
and Boston Water & Sewer.” Bumns also made verbal inquires
about positions at Modern Continental, G.F. White, and B.F.12
He did not apply for a position at any of the area hospitals or uni-
versities.

The School Committee reinstated Burns in January 1997. The par-
ties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his lay-
off was $114,970.66.

Jaomes Carney

Camey was forty-threc years old at the time of the hearing and has
a high school diploma. Prior to his employment with the School
Committee, Carney worked as a store clerk at Filene’s Basement
in Boston and as a housekeeper and security guard at Shattuck
Hospital. Carney began his employment with the School Commit-
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tee in December 1990. He took the civil service examination for
building custodian/municipal service in 1989, 1992, and 1995.%1n
1992, he received a score of 92% on that examination.” Carey
has a driver’s license and owns his own automobile.

During the period of his employment with the School Committee
and continuing until the day of the hearing, Carney worked at
Shattuck Hospital holding several security positions, including pa-
trol officer, lieutenant, and interim chief. Although not originally
civil service positions, in 1993 the security positions at Shattuck
Hospital became civil service positions. Carney took the examina-
tion and passed.”

During the period of his layoff, Camey worked additional over-
time hours at Shattuck Hospital. The parties stipulated that thosc
additional hours resulted in interim earnings of $27,153.93. Be-
cause he worked full-time, Camney received no unemployment
compensation during the period of his layoff.?

During the period of his layoff, Carmney submitted written employ-
ment applications at the Blades & Boards restaurant in 1992 or
1993, Brook Farm Rehabilitation Hospital in 1995 or 1996, and
the Star of David Nursing Home in 1995 or 1996. Carney also ap-

plied at Flanagan’s Supermarket and made verbal inquires at

Goodyear Tire, two local pubs, and a few construction sites.” He
also inquired about security positions at Wachenhutt Security but.
because the pay was significantly less than he was receiving
through his overtime work at Shattuck Hospital, he did not pursuc
the inquiry.

Camey responded to civil service announcements for building
custodians in Brookline and Braintree. However, he did not re-
spond to many others, including several in which the individuals
selected appeared lower on the civil service list than Camey. For
example, in May 1993, the Waltham School Department hired
nine custodians, including four who appeared lower on the list than
Camey. Other instances where at least one individual who was se-
lected appeared lower than Camney on the civil service list include
the Town of Watertown in November 1994, the Milton School De-
partment in January 1995, the Malden School Department in
March 1995, the Newton School Department in May 1995, and the
Revere School Department in June 1995. He did not pursue secu-
rity positions through the civil service system.

18. Bums has also worked as a bartender.

19. Professor Hewins opined that Burns’s position at the MBTA was a disincen-
tive to seek a position to replace his custodian position.

20. Bumns took the civil service examination for building custodian/municipal ser-
vice, but the record does not indicate when he took that examination or what score
he received.

2. Bums applied for a position as a truck driver at Somerville Lumber and Home
Depot. However, because he is limited in the number of hours he can drive a truck,
his position at the MBTA prohibited him from obtaining another position as a
driver.

22. Bums submitted an application to B.).’s Wholesale in November 1995, Hoods

Milk in 1993, and R.B. Remodeling in March 1996. However, he was unable recall
when he had applied for the other positions.

23. Bums could not recall when he had made any of those inquires and did not spec-
ify the types of positions he had sought. Further, although Burns testified that he

had made other verbal inquires, the Hearing Officer declined to make that finding.
The Hearing Officer noted that Bumns and the other custodians were asked to recall
cvents that, in some cases, had occurred more than five years before the hearing in
this matter. However, the Hearing Officer declined to make a finding based on
Bumns’s vague recollection that he had made other inquires.

24, There is nothing in the record about whether any of the area hospitals or univer-
sities had vacant positions or were accepting applications at the time.

25. Carney also took the examination for campus police officer in 1988.
26. There is nothing in the record about Camey’s scores on the other examinations.
27. There is nothing in the record about the score that Camney reccived.

28. Professor Hewins opined that Carney’s position at the Shattuck Hospital was a
disincentive to seek a position to replace his custodian position.

29. Carney could not recall when he made any of the inquiries.

8
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The School Committee reinstated Camney in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his
layoff was $114,970.66.

Robert Falion

Fallon was forty years old at the time of the hearing and has a high
school education. Prior to his employment with the School Com-
mittee, Fallon worked in several restaurants in various capacities,
including cook, chef, and shift manager. Fallon also received train-
ing in cooking at an apprenticeship-type program through the
Sheraton Hotel.

Beginning in 1989 or 1990, and continuing to the date of the hear-
ing (including the period of his employment with the School Com-
mittee and the period of his layoff), Fallon worked at the Farragut
House, a restaurant in South Boston. After beginning his employ-
ment with the School Committee in 1991, Fallon continued to
work at the Farragut House from 7:30 A.M. to 12:00 P.M. five
days per week. After his layoff in 1992, Fallon worked approxi-
mately fifteen additional hours each week, initially earning $11.00
per hour and then, beginning in 1996, $12.00 per hour.*® Because
the restaurant had already hired his replacement, he could not re-
turn to his prior position. In addition to his work at the Farragut
House, Fallon worked at Nick’s Comedy Stop in Boston, earning
$9,360.00 in 1993 and $3,375.00 in 1994.

Because he was working at the Farragut House, he did not collect
unemployment compensation at any time during the period of his
layoff.*! The parties were unable to stipulate to Fallon’s interim
earnings. We find that, at a minimum, Fallon had the following in-
terim earnings during the period of his layoff:

$4,290
$17,940%
$11,955%
$8,580
$9,360
$540
$52,665

1992
1993
1994
1995
1996
1997
Total
In 1993, Fallon unsuccessfully applied for work as a cook or chef

at the Parker House. He did not look for work as a custodian or la-
borer and did not apply to any universities or hospitals.

Fallon took the civil service examination for building custo-
dian/municipal service in 1992 and received a score of 85%. How-
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ever, Fallon did not respond to any of the announcements that
HRD had sent announcing civil service custodian positions. He
did not take the civil service examination that was offered in 1995.

The School Commiittee reinstated Fallon in January 1997. The par-
ties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his lay-
off was $114,970.66.

Thomaos Mulien

Mullen was forty-seven years old at the time of the hearing and did
not complete his high school education. He does not have a
driver’s license. Prior to working at the School Committee, Mullen
worked as a laborer and a custodian, and held various positions at
the Stop & Shop Bakery in Boston, including custodian, shipper,
machine operator, pie maker, and bread baker. He also worked at
various meatpacking plants loading trucks. Mullen began his em-
ployment with the School Committee in 1991. Mullen took the ex-
amination for building custodian/municipal service in 1988, 1992,
and 1995. In 1992, Mullen received a score of 90%.

During the period of his layoff, Mullen worked at the Post Office
for thirty days during the holiday season in 1993, until he was laid
off. Thereafter, the Post Office recalled him for approximately six
months in 1994, five months in 1995, and a brief period in 1996.
While working at the Post Office, Mullen worked forty hours each
week and eamed $8.00 per hour. He also received unemployment
during 1993, 1994, 1995, and 1996. The parties stipulated that
Mullen earned $29,842.17, including $11,247.00 in unemploy-
ment compensation, during the period of his layoff.

During the period of his layoff, Mullen looked for work at
Sharon’s Variety, a local variety store that his niece manages, and
local factories, including Agar Meat, Coca-Cola, and Gillette.**
Mullen also responded to HRD announcements for positions in
Quincy, at Boston City Hospital, and at the School Committee. Al-
though he was interviewed for one position and submitted a work
history report for another, he was not hired for any of them. How-
ever, Mullen failed to respond to a civil service vacancy in the
Quincy Public Schools in September 1992. He did not apply at any
universities or temporary agencies.>®

The School Committee reinstated Mullen in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his
layoff was $109,020.66.

Luis Tefedo

L. Tejeda was forty-one years old at the time of the hearing. He
was born in the Dominican Republic, where he received eight

30. Fallon testified that, until 1996, his rate of pay was $10.00 or $11.00 per bour at
the Farragut House and that, during the period of his layoff, he worked 10 to 15 ad-
ditional hours each week. Despite a subpoena and the Hearing Officer’s instruc-
tion, Fallon did not produce any information to document his income for the period
of his layoff. Further, although he testified that his income information may have
been thrown away when he separated from his wife, Fallon testified that he sepa-
rated from his wife in 1992—prior to most of the years in question. Therefore, in
the absence of any documentation to the contrary, we find that, at 8 minimum,
Fallon earned $11.00 per hour from 1992 until 1996 and $12.00 per hour from 1996
until his reinstatement. We also find that Fallon worked a minimum of fifteen addi-
tional hours each week at the Farragut House during the entire period of his layoff.

31. Professor Hewins opined that Fallon's position at the Farragut House was a dis-
incentive to seek a position to replace his custodian position.

32. This amount includes $8,580 from the Farragut House and $9,360 from Nick's
Comedy Stop.

33. This amount includes $8,580 from the Farragut House and $3,375 from Nick's
Comedy Stop.

34. Mullen could not recall when he made any of the inquiries.

35. Mullen did not inquire at any temporary agencies because he believed that he
would need computer skills.
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years of elementary and two years of middle school education.
Prior to his employment with the School Committee, L. Tejeda
was steadily employed, primarily as a cleaner.* He took the civil
service examination for building custodian/municipal service in
1992 and received a score of 77%.%” However, shortly after taking
the examination, L. Tejeda moved without notifying HRD. As a
result, he received no cards announcing civil service vacancies. He
did not take the civil service examination for building custo-
dian/municipal service in 1995. Although L. Tejeda speaks, un-
dergtsands, and reads some English, his primary language is Span-
ish.

L. Tejeda lives in Boston with his mother. He has a driver’s license
and, for a period after his layoff, owned an automobile. He re-
ceived no interim earnings during the entire period of his layoff
and did not file tax returns in 1993, 1994, 1995, or 1996. The par-
ties have stipulated that L. Tejeda received $2,376 in unemploy-
ment compensation during the period of his layofT.

During the period of his layoff, L. Tejeda unsuccessfully looked
for work at various times with various companies, including auto-
mobile rental companies, cleaning companies, hotels, and restau-
rants. > Some of his inquiries were in person or through other peo-
ple, some over the telephone, and others in writing. L. Tejeda also
traveled to the Dominican Republic on several occasions during
the period of his layoff. His family owns a coffee plantation there
and he went to check on it from time to time.

The School Committee reinstated L. Tejeda in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his
layoff was $114,970.66.

Berenice Tejedo

B. Tejeda was forty-seven years old at the time of the hearing. She
was born in the Dominican Republic, where she received some
high school education but did not graduate. She immigrated to the
United States approximately thirty years ago. B. Tejeda’s primary
language is Spanish.”’ As described below, B. Tejeda has studied
English, but still has difficulty with the English language. She does
not own an automobile.

Massachusetts Labor CasesVolume 29

Prior to her employment with the School Commiittee, B. Tejeda
worked steadily in a variety of jobs, including cleaning, laundry,
ironing, sewing, airport security, and as a waitress. She took the
civil service examination for building custodian/municipal service
sometime after her layoff in 1992.

During the period of her layoff, B. Tejeda was employed twice. In
1995, she worked part-time at Burger King, earning $5.00 per
hour. She left that position because she had been told that she could
getaposition as a building cleaner at the John Hancock building. **
However, she did not get the position. In 1996, B. Tejeda worked
part-time for Janitronics. The parties have stipulated that she
earned $22,672.00, including $12,252.00 in unemployment com-
pensation, during the period of her layoff.

B. Tejeda also studied English at Oficina Hispana in 1992 and
1993. Although she did not recall the exact dates of her attendance,
her course met five days per week for four hours each day.

During the period of her layoff, B. Tejeda filled out written appli-
cations for work at the Marriott Hotel at Logan Airport, as a school
bus driver,* at Brigham & Women’s Hospital, the Holiday Inn,
CVS, and Woolworths in the Dedham Mall.** B. Tejeda also vis-
ited the Dominican Republic for 2-3 weeks during the holiday sea-
son one year.

The School Committee reinstated B. Tejeda in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that her gross back pay during the period of her
layoff was $114,970.66.

Fran Romero

F. Romero was fifty-eight years old at the time of the hearing. He
was born in the Dominican Republic and has a fourth gade educa-
tion. F. Romero does not speak, read or write English.” F. Romero
came to the United States in 1968 and worked in the garment in-
dustry in New York City for approximately ten (10) years before
coming to Boston. Prior to being employed by the Boston School
Committee in late 1991,*” F. Romero worked as a general building
cleaner. He has never taken the civil service examination for build-
ing custodian/municipal service.

36. L. Tejeda also worked for a short time manufacturing tapes in New York prior
to coming to Boston in 1973 and as a gas station attendant.

37. When L. Tejeda completed his civil service application, he listed only Boston
as a geographical preference.

38. L. Tejeda testified with the assistance of an interpreter.

39. With rare exception, L. Tejeda was unable to recall when he had applied for any
specific position. The School Committee questioned the veracity of L. Tejeda’s
testimony concerning his efforts to obtain employment during the period ofhis lay-
off and offered the testimony of Bienbeaido Bello (Bello) to contradict his testi-
mony. Specifically, although L. Tejeda testified that he had inquired about a posi-
tion at Janitronics, where Bello is employed as a vice president, Bello testified that
he had never received a written application from L. Tejeda. Further, although Bello
receives many applications, he would have remembered L. Tejeda’s application
because L. Tejeda is his nephew. Although the Hearing Officer credited Bello’s
testimony, L. Tejeda did not claim to have filed a written application at Janitronics.
Rather, he testified that he had made a telephone inquiry and was told to check back
at a later date.

40. L. Tejeda had inherited a share of the plantation from his grandfather. He testi-
fied that, in good years, he would receive approximately $2,000 from the operation

of the plantation, but in other years, he would receive nothing. In addition, other
than the fact that he had traveled to the Dominican Republic several times, there is
nothing in the record about how often he went, when those trips were, or how long
he was away.

41. B. Tejeda testified with the assistance of an interpreter.
42. There is nothing in the record about what score she received.

43, B. Tejeda also testified that the job at Burger King was a lot of work for $5.00
per hour.

44, B. Tejeda does not possess the required license to be a school bus driver.

45. Although B. Tejeda recalled that she had applied at the Holiday Inn before
working at Burger King, she did not recall when she applied at any of the other loca-
tions.

46. F. Romero testified with the assistance of an interpreter.

47. F. Romero testified that he was laid off on July 1, 1992, after working for eight
(8) or nine (9) months.
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During the period of his Iag'off, F. Romero provided child care for
his daughters. From 1993“ through approximately February 1996,
F. Romero lived with his daughter, Lissette, in Michigan. After F.
Romero’s daughter, G. Romero, who is also among the custodians
who were laid off on June 30, 1992 (see below), returned to work
in February 1996, F. Romero returned to the Boston area and lived
with G. Romero. From February 1996 until his return to the School
Committee in January 1997, F. Romero provided childcare to G.
Romero’s children, for which he received $3,800.00. The parties
have stipulated that F. Romero received $9,665.00, which includes
$5,865.00 in unemployment compensation, during the period of
his layoff.

Although F. Romero testified that he looked for work during the
period of his layoff, the Hearing Officer found his testimony
vague, inconsistent, and not credible. First, when completing the
School Committee’s questionnaire in April 1997, F. Romero listed
only Janitronics and Stop & Shop as employers from whom he had
sought work—both in 1996. In the affidavit that he signed on Oc-
tober 23, 1997, he listed a number of prospective employers, in-
cluding: the Sheraton Hotel, the Marriott Hotel, Janitronics
Cleaning Company, Burger King, Consolidated Cleaning Com-
pany, various department stores at the Dedham Mall, Stop & Shop,
Brigham & Women'’s Hospital, Nynex, Dunkin Donuts, Pruden-
tial Food Services, the Bay Tower Room restaurant, and Papa
Gino’s. However, when testifying at the hearing, F. Romero could
not recall inquiring about positions with many of the employers
listed in his October 23, 1997 affidavit. Further, although he testi-
fied that he only met Bello on the day he applied for a position at
Janitronics, in fact, Bello is a relative* who has known F. Romero
for many years. The Hearing Officer also credited Bello’s testi-
mony that F. Romero did not inquire about a position at
Janitronics.” Finally, F. Romero testified that he signed both the
School Committee’s questionnaire and his affidavit dated October
23, 1997—even offering specific details about the conditions un-
der which he does and does not use his middle initial. However,
even a casual comparison reveals that the signatures are not the
same. Moreover, the signature on the School Committee’s ques-
tionnaire appears to have been made by his daughter, G. Romero.”’
Accordingly, the Hearing Officer discredited all of F. Romero’s
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testimony about his efforts to obtain employment during the pe-
riod of his layoff.

The School Committee reinstated F. Romero in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that his gross back pay during the period of his
layoff was $114,970.66.

Gesenlo Romero

G. Romero was twenty-six years old at the time of the hearing and
has a twelfth-grade education.* Prior to her employment with the
School Committee, G. Romero worked as a cashier and for a con-
tractor who provided security at Logan Airport. She is a single
mother of two, including one child who was born during the period
of her layoff. She owns her own automobile. In 1994, G. Romero
took the civil service examination for building custodian/munici-
pal service and received a score of 92%.

During the period of her layoff, G. Romero had no interim employ-
ment. The parties were unable to stipulate to G. Romero’s interim
eamings. We find that she received $6,175.00 in unemployment
compensation during 1992.% Further there is no dispute that, dur-
ing the period of her layoff, she received a total of $15,326.76 in
AFDC benefits.*

At some point, G. Romero sought employment at Brigham &
Woman's Hospital, Beth Israel Hospital, Children’s Hospital,
Brookside Clinic, and Bradlees in the Dedham Mall.** G. Romero
did not complete the mitigation section of the School Committee’s
questionnaire. Although she testified that she did not see it, she
completed that same section on her father’s questionnaire and
listed two employers from whom her father had allegedly sought
employment. The Hearing Officer found it incredible that G.
Romero assisted her father in completing his copy of the question-
naire and did not see the mitigation section on her own question-
naire, which she signed on the same day. Further, the Hearing Offi-
cer found G. Romero’s testimony incredible, because one of the
potential employers listed on her father’s questionnaire was
Janitronics—an employer from whom G. Romero testified that
she had sought employment. For the reasons set forth above, the
Hearing Officer also discredited G. Romero’s testimony concern-

48. There is nothing in the record to provide a more specific date.

49, Although the exact relationship is unclear, both Bello and B. Tejeda, whois F.
Romero’s ex-wife, referred to L. Tejeda as a nephew. G. Romero testified that
Bello is married to her fourth cousin.

50. Bello testified pursuant to a School Committee subpoena. Despite the obvious
adverse impact that his testimony would have on the claims of L. Tejeda, F.
Romero, and G. Romero, there is nothing in the record to suggest that he was biased
toward them. The Hearing Officer found that his testimony was consistent and his
demeanor demonstrated straightforward, truthful responses.

51. G. Romero testified that, although she had completed the School Committee's
questionnaire for F. Romero, F. Romero signed it. However, the Hearing Officer
noted that the signature on that document—particularly the last rame—appeared
quite similar to the signature on G. Romero’s own School Committee question-
naire. The Hearing Officer recognized that F. Romero had difficulty with the Eng-
lish language and did not discredit his testimony because his daughter signed his
name to the School Committee’s questionnaire. Rather, the Hearing Officer dis-
credited F. Romero’s testimony because the Hearing Officer found that F. Romero
was untruthful when he testified that he had signed his name to both documents.

52. G. Romero nearly completed her senior year of high school, leaving in April.

53. In its brief, the School Committee argues that G. Romero received a total of
$6,422.00 in unemployment compensation during 1992 and 1993. However, a
Form 1099 from the Division of Employment Security indicates that she received
$6,175.00in 1992, and there is nothing in the record about G. Romero’s unemploy-
ment compensation during 1993 or how the additional $247.00 was calculated.

54. Although G. Romero testified that her AFDC benefits began in October 1994,
we find that her benefits actually began in October 1993. First, in both the School
Committee’s questionnaire and in her affidavit, she stated that she had received
AFDC benefits from 1993 until 1996. In addition, a report from the Department of
Public Welfare (now known as the Department of Transitional Assistance) that G.
Romero attached to the School Committee questionnaire and that was introduced
into the record as School Committee Exhibit #2 indicates that her benefits began in
October 1993.

55. G. Romero did not recall when she had applied for any one position.
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ing her father’s signatures on his copy of the School Committee’s
questionnaire and his affidavit.*

Finally, although G. Romero testified that she had spoken with
Bello about a position, for the reasons stated in footnote 50, above,
the Hearing Officer credited Bello’s testimony that the conversa-
tion never occurred.

The School Committee re-hired G. Romero in January 1997. The
parties stipulated that her gross back pay during the period of her
layoff was $90, 817.16.

Opinion
Back Pay, Interim Earnings, and Bock Pay Period

The formula for computing the amount of back pay owed to an un-
lawfully discharged employee is:

Net back pay = gross back pay - (interim eamnings - expenses).

Gross back pay is the total amount of wages and other economic
benefits the employee would have received but for the employer’s
unlawful conduct. Interim earnings are amounts earned during the
back pay period that offset the loss of compensation resulting from
the termination. Expenses are the costs incurred in eamning the in-
terim income. Greater New Bedford Infant Toddler Center, 15
MLC 1653 (1988); Plymouth County House of Correction,6 MLC
1523 (1979). The period of back pay runs from the date of the un-
lawful discharge to the date when the employee is unconditionally
offered reinstatement to the former position. /d.

Here, the back pay period runs from June 30, 1992, the date of the
layofT, until January 22, 1997, the date the School Committee of-
fered to unconditionally reinstate the affected employees. The par-
ties stipulated to the gross back pay for all of the custodians. The
parties also stipulated to the interim earnings for all of the custodi-
ans except Fallon and G. Romero. With regard to those two em-
ployees, we adopt the Hearing Officer’s recommended findings of
fact regarding their interim earnings. None of the affected employ-
ees had any expenses. The employees’ gross back pay, interim
earnings, and net back pay are listed in Appendices “A”-“H”.

Mitigation and Set-off
1. Unemployment Compensation

The Commission is free to either deduct or not deduct such sums
from gross back pay as part of its authority to fashion remedies
which best effectuate the purposes of the Law. Greater New Bed-
ford Infant Toddler Center, 15 MLC at 1659-1660, citing Newton
School Committee, 8 MLC 1538, 1560 (1981), aff"d sub nom.
School Committee of Newton v. Labor Relations Commission, 388
Mass. 557 (1983). When determining whether to deduct unem-
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ployment compensation from gross back pay, the Commission ex-
amines whether that compensation is recoverable by the Depart-
ment of Employment and Training (DET). If DET can recoup the
unemployment compensation, the Commission does not deduct
that compensation and notifies DET of its decision, leaving to that
agency the determination concering the affected employee’s lia-
bility, if any, for repayment. See, e.g., Greater New Bedford Infant
Toddler Center, 15 MLC at 1659-1660; Plymouth County House
of Correction, 6 MLC at 1533 n.8. If, on the contrary, DET cannot
recover the unemployment compensation, the Commission de-
ducts that compensation from gross back pay to avoid making em-
ployees more than whole. See, e.g., Newton School Committee, 8
MLC at 1559-1560.

Here, the Commissioner of DET has the authority pursuant to
M.G.L.c. 151A, §71, as amended by St. 1990, c. 154, §39 and St.
1990, ¢. 177, §326, to recover unemployment benefits for an un-
limited amount of time.”’ Accordingly, we will not deduct unem-
ployment compensation from gross back pay and, instead, will no-
tify DET of our decision and order, so DET may take whatever
action it deems appropriate.

2. AFDC Benelfits

The Commission has not previously considered whether AFDC
benefits are deducted from gross back pay. Unlike unemployment
benefits, AFDC benefits cannot be recouped. In particular, M.G.L.
c. 118, §10 provides that AFDC benefits are not subject to trustee
process and cannot be assigned to another individual.*® Moreover,
the Commission has generally noted that it will not deduct welfare
payments from gross back pay, because that income is not attribut-
able to new employment. Town of Townsend, 1 MLC 1450, 1453
(1973). Accordingly, we will not deduct the monies received by G.
Romero in AFDC benefits from her gross back pay.

3. Search for Interim Employment

Employees discharged in violation of the Law have an obligation
to mitigate back pay liability by seeking appropriate interim em-
ployment. The employer has the burden of proof on the issue of
mitigation. To meet that burden, an employer must demonstrate
that: 1) one or more discoverable opportunities for comparable
employment were available in a location as convenient as, or more
convenient than, the place of former employment; 2) the employee
unreasonably made no attempt to apply for the comparable jobs:
and 3) it was reasonably likely that the employee would have ob-
tained one of those jobs. Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 16
MLC 1455, 1459-1460 (1989); Newton School Committee, 8
MLC at 1561; See also, Phelps Dodge Corp. v. NLRB, 313 U.S.
177 (1941); Ryan v. Superintendent of Schools of Quincy, 374
Mass. 670 (1976).

56. However, as stated in footnote 51, above, the Hearing Officer did not discredit
G. Romero’s testimony because she signed her father’s name to the School Com-
mittee's questionnaire. The Hearing Officer discredited G. Romero’s testimony
because she was untruthful when testifying that she had not signed her father’s
name.

57.M.G.L.c. 151A, §71 provides in part: “The commissioner may reconsider a ter-
mination whenever he [or she] finds that (1) an error has occurred in connection
therewith; or (2) wages of the claimant pertinent to such detcrmination but not con-

sidered in connection therewith have been newly discovered; . . . provided, how-
ever, that with respect to (1) and (2) no such redetermination shall be made after one
year from the date of the original determination . . . and provided, further, that the
time limitations specified . . . shall not apply with respect to an award of back pay
received by an individual for any week in which unemployment benefits were paid
to such individual.”

58.M.G.L. c. 118, §10 states in part: “‘Aid hereunder shall not be subject to trustee
process and no assignment thereof shall be valid[.]"
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[A]n improperly discharged employee “is entitled to recover his [or
her] back salary less what he [or she] did in fact earn following his
[or her] discharge or in the exercise of proper diligence might have
eamned in another employment.” To require that the former em-
ployer prove conclusively that the former employee would have ob-
tained employment in a comparable job would impose an impossible
burden on a former employer and, as a practical matter, virtually
would abolish the established principle that a discharged employee
must take the consequences of his or her failure to seek reasonably
available comparable employment.

Black v. School Committee of Malden, 369 Mass 657, 662 (1976),
citing McKenna v. Commissioner of Mental Health, 347 Mass.
674, 677 (1964); See, Newton School Committee, 8 MLC at 1561,
aff"d sub nom. School Committee of Newton v. Labor Relations
Commission, 388 Mass at 580-581. Where a group of employees
have been discharged, the efforts of each employee to secure in-
terim employment must be considered independently. Plymouth
County House of Correction, 6 MLC at 1533, citing NLRB v. Mad-
ison Courier,471 F. 2d 1037, 88 LRRM 1403 (D.C. Cir. 1972).

Here, the School Committee established the first element of the
mitigation analysis. Based on the HRD lists generated from the
September 1991 and April 1995 building custodian/municipal
civil service examinations, the communities in the Boston area had
numerous vacant, comparable positions available between June
1992 and February 1997. For example, Boston had 59 building
custodian positions, Quincy had 31 building custodian positions,
and Somerville had 11 building custodian positions. Further, the
classified advertisements in the Boston Sunday Globe showed that
some comparable positions in the Boston area were available be-
tween July 1992 and January 1997. We next turn to examine the
job search efforts of the affected employees and their likelihood of
obtaining a comparable position.

Q. Burns

The School Committee argues that Burns did not make reasonable
efforts to secure other employment, because he made only nine job
search inquiries over a four and one-half year period. The School
Committee also points out that Burns testified that he figured he
did not need a second job because he was already working
full-time. The School Committee relies on that testimony to con-
tend that Burns abandoned his job search. The School Commiittee
concludes that Burns is not entitled to any back pay because he
failed to mitigate his damages. In the alternative, the School Com-
mittee asks the Commission to find that the back pay obligation
ended in July 1993, the time Hewins testified it was more probable
than not that Burns would have obtained other employment.

Contrary to the School Committee’s contention, Bumns did not
abandon his job search. Burns found sporadic employment as an
on-call watchman in 1994 and 1995. On undisclosed dates, he re-
sponded to vacancy announcements for civil service custodian po-
sitions in Somerville, Malden, and Medford and indicated that, if
selected, he would accept the position. Burns also submitted job
applications at B.J.’s Wholesale, Hood’s Milk, R.B. Remodeling,
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Somerville Lumber, Home Deport, Gerald Hickey Tree Service,
and Boston Water & Sewer.* Burns made verbal inquires at some
point about job openings at Modern Continental, G.F. White, and
BFI. Thus, the School Committee has not met its burden of show-
ing that Burns unreasonably made no attempt to apply for compa-
rable jobs.

Even if the School Committee had met the second element of its
burden of proof, it has not established that it was reasonably likely
that Burns would have obtained a comparable, available job. Here,
the School Committee relies on Hewins’s testimony to establish
the third element of its burden of proof. In particular, Hewins gave
his expert opinion that it was more probable than not that Burns
would have found comparable employment within six to twelve
months had he conducted a minimally adequate job search.
Hewins based his expert opinion on Burns’s age, work experience
as a heavy laborer, and possession of several specialty licenses,
which Hewins characterized as “labor market positives.” How-
ever, this evidence is too broad to establish that it was reasonably
likely that Burns would have obtained an available, comparable
job. See, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 16 MLC at 1461 n.15
(evidence establishing that nurses with the employee’s particular
work experience were in demand as an employment commodity
would not suffice to satisfy the employer’s burden to prove that the
employee had a reasonable prospect of being hired for one or more
available and comparable employment opportunities); Compare,
Ryan v. Superintendent of Schools of Quincy; 374 Mass. at
675-676 (when determining whether it was reasonably likely that
employee could have obtained a comparable job, court considered
available market for comparable positions, likelihood of employee
obtaining a favorable reference from former employer, and em-
ployee’s age). Moreover, the School Committee proffered no evi-
dence showing the number of applicants for each comparable posi-
tion available to Burns or the qualifications of those applicants
compared to Bumns. See, Newton School Committee, 8 MLC at
1563 (because there were 25-30 applicants for each comparable,
available position, employer failed to demonstrate, without further
evidence, that former employees had a reasonable prospect of be-
ing hired). Because the School Committee failed to meet its burden
of proof, we conclude that Burns mitigated his damages and award
him back pay from June 30, 1992 through January 22, 1997.

b. Camey

The School Commiittee argues that Carey made insufficient ef-
forts to find another job because he was primarily employed at
Shattuck Hospital and was disinclined to find another position.
The School Committee points out that Camney applied to only
about eight employers over a four and one-half year period and
failed to apply for numerous civil service custodian positions. The
School Committee compares Carney’s conduct to abandoning his
job search and concludes that Camney is not entitled to any back
pay. The School Committee argues alternatively that the back pay
obligation ceases on either: 1) December 1, 1993, the date on
which Carney failed to respond to a Wailtham School Committee

59. Burns applied to B.J’s Wholesale in November 1995, Hood's Milk in 1993, and
R.B. Remodeling in March 1996. The record is silent regarding when Burns ap-
plied for the remaining positions.
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notice to appear for a civil service custodian position; or 2) July 1,
1993, the date on which Hewins testified that it was reasonably
likely Carney would have obtained comparable employment.

Similar to Burns, the evidence establishes that Carney did not
abandon his job search. He submitted employment applications at
the Blades & Boards Restaurant in 1992 or 1993, Brook Farm Re-
habilitation Hospital in 1995 or 1996, and the Star of David
Nursing Home in 1995 or 1996. On undisclosed dates, Carney ap-
plied to Flanagan’s Supermarket and made verbal inquiries at
Goodyear Tire, two local pubs, and several construction sites. Un-
like Burns, however, Carney never found another position during
the entire period of his layoff. Moreover, Carney failed to respond
to many civil service announcements for building custodian posi-
tions. Significantly, the evidence shows that several of the individ-
uals selected to fill those positions appeared lower on the civil ser-
vice list than Camey. In May 1993, the Waltham School
Department hired nine custodians, including four who appeared
lower on the list than Carney. The following employers selected at
least one individual who appeared lower on the civil service list
than Camey to fill building custodian positions: the Town of
Watertown in November 1994, the Milton School Department in
January 1995, the Malden School Department in March 1993, the
Newton School Department in May 1995, and the Revere School
Department in June 1995. The preponderance of the record evi-
dence demonstrates that Carney unreasonably made no attempt to
apply for available, comparable civil service building custodian
positions, and that it was reasonably likely that he would have been
hired to fill one of those vacancies due to his position on the civil
service list. Accordingly, the School Committee has met its burden
of proof regarding Carney.

The Association contends that Carney failed to receive 24 civil
service announcements between 1993 and 1995 because the cards
went to the wrong address. The Association also argues that Car-
ney received announcements for positions paying less than what
he had earned working for the School Committee. However, the
Association did not proffer any evidence to explain Carney’s fail-
ure torespond to the civil service announcements discussed above.
The Association also asserts that many of the civil service open-
ings were for positions far outside of the City of Boston and singles
out Revere as an example. The Association argues that, because
the openings were in inconvenient locations, they were not compa-
rable positions. However, Carney applied for a civil service build-
ing custodian position in Braintree, which is as far, if not farther,
away than Revere. Thus, the Association’s rebuttal argument is
unpersuasive.

The record here shows that the first opportunity that Camney had to
apply for an available, comparable job for which it was reasonably
likely he would have been selected was in the Waltham School De-
partment in May 1993. Because Carney failed to respond to the
civil service announcement for that position, we conclude that
Carney failed to mitigate his damages after that date and award
him back pay from June 30, 1992 through May 31, 1993.

Massachusetts Labor CasesVolume 29

c. Fallon

The School Committee contends that Fallon failed to mitigate his
damages. The School Committee asserts that Fallon only applied
for two jobs over the course of four and one-half years. The School
Committee also points to Fallon’s testimony that he “fell back™ on
the job he had at the Farragut House as evidence of Fallon aban-
doning the job search. The School Committee further argues that
Fallon’s refusal to comply with the School Committee’s subpoena
for his tax records and/or payroll information deprived the School
Committee of the opportunity to determine whether he had worked
longer hours to mitigate his damages. The School Committee con-
cludes that Fallon is not entitled to any back pay for those reasons.
Alternatively, the School Committee posits that the back pay obli-
gation ends on July 1, 1993, the date on which Hewins testified that
it was reasonably likely Fallon would have obtained comparable
employment. The School Committee also contends that, if the
Commission awards Fallon any back pay, the entire amount of his
Farragut House earnings must be deducted, because the School
Committee was unable to determine if Fallon eamed any extra in-
come by increasing his hours at that job.

Fallon worked at Nick’s Comedy Stop in 1993 and 1994. How-
ever, the record indicates that Fallon did not make any attempts to
find another job after 1994. He did not complete any job applica-
tions, did notrespond to any civil service vacancy announcements,
and failed to take the civil service examination in 1995. Although
the Association argues that Fallon mitigated his damages by work-
ing more hours at the Farragut House. holding a second job does
not eliminate an employee’s obligation to mitigate back pay by
searching for work. Cobb Mechanical Contractors, Inc., 333
NLRB No. 142 (2001); See, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, 16
MLC at 1460; Newton School Committee, 8 MLC at 1565-1566;
Town of Townsend, 1 MLC at 1453. Consequently, the preponder-
ance of the evidence demonstrates that Fallon unreasonably made
no attempt to apply foravailable, comparable positions after 1994.

The School Committee relics on Hewins’s testimony to establish
that it was reasonably likely that Fallon would have obtained a
comparable job. In particular, Hewins gave his expert opinion that
it was more probable than not that Fallon would have found com-
parable employment within six to twelve months had he conducted
a minimally adequate job search. Hewins based his expert opinion
on Fallon’s job experience as a cook, which Hewins characterized
as a “labor market positive,” the overall state of the economy, and
the large number of comparable positions available. However, for
the reasons articulated above, that evidence is insufficient to estab-
lish the third element of the School Committee’s burden of proof.

The School Committee also argues that the Commission should ei-
ther not award Fallon any back pay or deduct the entire amount of
his Farragut House earnings as interim income because Fallon
failed to comply with the School Committee’s subpoena for his fi-
nancial records. By refusing to do so, the School Committee con-
tends that Fallon deprived it of the opportunity to ascertain if there
was any increase in his Farragut House earnings. However, the
School Committee was able to cross-examine Fallon during the
hearing in an effort to obtain that information. Compare, Newion
School Committee, 8 MLC at 1564-1565 (employee not entitled to
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any back pay because he failed to appear at the hearing, thus de-
priving the school committee of any opportunity to ask questions
relating to mitigation). Therefore, we conclude that Fallon miti-
gated his damages and award him back pay from June 30, 1992
through January 22, 1997.

d. Mullen

The School Commiittee argues that Mullen failed to use reasonable
efforts to find another job and, therefore, is not entitled to any back
pay. Specifically, the School Committee contends that working in-
termittently at the U.S. Post Office and applying for twelve jobs
over a four and one-half year period were insufficient to mitigate
his damages. The School Committee also points out that Mullen
failed to respond to a civil service vacancy announcement in the
Quincy Public Schools in September 1992. The School Commit-
tee further asserts that, if Mullen is entitled to back pay, the obliga-
tion must cease on July 1, 1993, the date on which Hewins testified
that it was reasonably likely Mullen would have found another
comparable job.

The record reflects that Mullen made efforts to mitigate his dam-
ages. He worked at the U.S. Post Office for 30 days in 1993, six
months in 1994, five months in 1995, and a brief period in 1996.
While employed there, Mullen worked 40 hours per week earning
$8.00 per hour. Additionally, Mullen looked for work at local fac-
tories and at Sharon’s Variety. He also responded to civil service
announcements for positions in Quincy, Boston City Hospital, and
at the School Committee. Even if the Commission agreed that
Mullen unreasonably failed to apply for the civil service building
custodian position with the Quincy Public Schools in September
1992, there is nothing in the record indicating that it was reason-
ably likely that Mullen would have been hired to fill that position.
Further, for the reasons described above, Hewins’s testimony is in-
adequate to establish the third element of the School Commiittee’s
burden of proof. Accordingly, we conclude that Mullen mitigated
his damages and award him back pay from June 30, 1992 through
January 2, 1997.

e. L. Tefeco

The School Committee argues that L. Tejeda is not entitled to any
back pay. In support of its argument, the School Committee draws
attention to the fact that L. Tejeda was unemployed for the entire pe-
riod of his layoff and only applied for fifteen positions during that
time. He did not take the 1995 civil service examination and failed to
respond to four civil service vacancy announcements. If the Com-
mission concludes that L. Tejeda is entitled to back pay, the School
Committee asks that the Commission limit the back pay obligation
toeither: 1) January 1993, when L. Tejeda failed to respond to a civil
service vacancy announcement with the School Committee; or 2)
July 1, 1993, the date on which Hewins testified that it was reason-
ably likely that L. Tejeda would have found other employment.

Although the record reflects that L. Tejeda made some efforts to
find another job on undisclosed dates during the period of his lay-
off, it also shows that he never found one. Further, L. Tejeda wasin
the Dominican Republic checking on his family’s coffee planta-
tion and not looking for work for unknown amounts of time. The
record also demonstrates that L. Tejeda did not receive any civil
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service vacancy announcements, because he had not notified HRD
of his change in address. Additionally, L. Tejeda failed to take the
1995 civil service examination. When considering the record evi-
dence as a whole, the preponderance of that evidence shows that L.
Tejeda unreasonably made no attempt to apply for a comparable
job. Consequently, the School Committee has met the second ele-
ment of its burden of proof.

The School Committee relies on Hewins’s expert testimony that,
given the economy and the large number of comparable positions
available, it was more probable than not that L. Tejeda would have
found comparable employment within six to twelve months had he
conducted an adequate job search. However, for the previously-
discussed reasons, that testimony is insufficient to establish the
third element of the School Committee’s burden of proof. The
School Committee further contends that L. Tejeda’s failure to re-
spond to a January 1993 civil service vacancy announcement for a
position with the School Committee limited its back pay liability.
However, the School Commiittee did not proffer any evidence
showing that it was reasonably likely that L. Tejeda would have
been hired for that position. Because the School Committee did not
establish the third element of its burden of proof, we conclude that
L. Tejeda mitigated his damages and award him back pay from
June 30, 1992 through January 22, 1997.

1. 8. Tejedo

The School Committee contends that B. Tejeda withdrew from the
Jjob market between 1992 and 1993 when she attended Oficinia
Hispana to learn English four hours a day, five days a week. In re-
sponse to B. Tejeda’s claim that she looked for a job while attend-
ing classes, the School Committee points out that B. Tejeda was
unemployed from 1992 to 1994. The School Committee further
asserts that B. Tejeda’s job search was inadequate, because she
only applied to five employers over three and one-half years. The
School Commiittee concludes that B. Tejeda is not entitled to back
pay between 1992 and 1993. Further, the School Commiittee as-
serts that its back pay obligation would extend from January 1,
1994, when B. Tejeda re-entered the job market, to June 1, 1995,
when Hewins testified it was reasonably likely that she would have
found another job. In the event the Commission determines B.
Tejeda is eligible for back pay during the entire period of her lay-
off, the School Committee argues that it should not be penalized
for her decision to quit her job at Burger King. Thus, the School
Committee contends that its back pay obligation should be tolled
or reduced by an amount equivalent to the income she would have
earned from Burger King had she not quit.

The fact that B. Tejeda attended English classes, without more,
does not demonstrate that she withdrew from the job market. See,
Plymouth County House of Correction, 6 MLC at 1535-1537 (em-
ployee who was enrolled as a full-time student, looked for employ-
ment after his layoff, and found a part-time job driving a taxi made
adequate efforts to mitigate his damages); Compare, Newton
School Committee, 8 MLC at 1564-1565 (employee who moved to
California to attend motorcycle mechanics school and did not at-
tend Commission hearing abandoned job search). However, B.
Tejeda was unemployed between 1992 and 1994. Although B.
Tejeda applied for jobs at the Marriott Hotel, Brigham &
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Women’s Hospital, the Holiday Inn, CVS, and Woolworths, the
record does not reflect when she did so, except that she had applied
atthe Holiday Inn before working at Burger King in 1995. Without
more information in the record showing that B. Tejeda was ac-
tively looking for a job between 1992 to 1994, the preponderance
of the evidence demonstrates that she unreasonably made no at-
tempts to apply for comparable jobs during that period. Because
she obtained employment at Burger King in 1995 and Janitronics
in 1996, the preponderance of the evidence shows that her job
search efforts were sufficient during those years. Therefore, the
School Committee has established the second element of its bur-
den of proof regarding the period between 1992 and 1994,

The School Committee again relies on Hewins’s testimony that B.
Tejeda was reasonably likely to obtain a comparable position
within twelve to eighteen months of her layoff had she conducted
an adequate job search because of the economy and the large num-
ber of comparable positions available. However, as previously ex-
plained, that evidence is inadequate to meet the third element of
the School Committee’s burden of proof. Thus, we find that B.
Tejeda mitigated her damages and award her back pay from June
30, 1992 to January 22, 1997, Further, we do not toll or reduce the
School Committee’s back pay obligation by an amount equal to
the income B. Tejeda would have eamned from Burger King had
she not quit, because that job was not comparable to B. Tejeda’s
night junior custodian job.® See, Plymouth County House of Cor-
rection, 6 MLC at 1535 (employee was not obligated to re-enlist in
the National Guard to mitigate his damages, because Commission
did not consider weekend service to be substantially equivalent to
the job the employee lost).

@g. F. Romero

The Hearing Officer discredited all of F. Romero’s testimony
about his efforts to obtain employment during the period of his lay-
off. Because there is no reason to overturn the Hearing Officer’s
credibility determination, we conclude that F. Romero unreason-
ably made no attempt to apply for available, comparable jobs. We
next analyze whether the School Committee has met the third ele-
ment of its burden of proof.

The School Committee asks the Commission to infer that it was
reasonably likely F. Romero would have obtained a job at
Janitronics had he applied, because: 1) F. Romero was related to
Bello, Janitronics’s vice president; and 2) F. Romero’s ex-wife, B.
Tejeda, obtained employment there in 1995. However, F.
Romero’s familial connection with Bello and B. Tejeda’s employ-
ment at Janitronics, without more, do not make it reasonably likely
that F. Romero would have been hired at Janitronics. See, gener-
ally, Goncalves v. Labor Relations Commission, 43 Mass. App.
Ct. 289 (1997) (an inference is a generalization based on the logi-
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cal connection between two facts, so that the existence of fact A
makes the existence of fact B more or less probable). The School
Committee also relies on Hewins’s testimony to show that it was
reasonably likely that F. Romero would have obtained comparable
employment within twelve to eighteen months given the economy
and the large number of comparable jobs available. However, for
the reasons set forth above, that testimony is insufficient to estab-
lish the third element of the School Committee’s burden of proof.
Consequently, we conclude that F. Romero mitigated his damages
and award him back pay from June 30, 1992 to January 22, 1997.

h. G. Romero

The School Committee argues that G. Romero is not entitled to any
back pay because she failed to conduct an adequate job search. The
School Committee asserts that G. Romero only applied for four
jobs over four and one-half years and never found another position
during that time. If G. Romero is entitled to any back pay. the
School Committee asserts that its liability must terminate by July”
1, 1993, the date by which Hewins testified that it was reasonably
likely that G. Romero would have found a comparable position.

G. Romero looked for jobs at Brigham & Women's Hospital, Beth
Israel Hospital, Children’s Hospital, Brookside Clinic, and
Bradlees. However, she never found another job during the period
of her layoff. Moreover, the Hearing Officer discredited G.
Romero’s testimony that: 1) she did not complete the mitigation
section of the School Committee’s questionnaire because she had
not seen it; and 2) she had spoken to Bello about a position at
Janitronics. The preponderance of the evidence demonstrates that
G. Romero unreasonably made no attempt to apply for comparable
positions. Accordingly, the School Committee has met the second
element of its burden of proof.

The School Committee relies on Hewins’s testimony to show that
it was reasonably likely that G. Romero would have obtained a
comparable position within six to twelve months had she con-
ducted a minimally adequate job search. However, as described
more fully above, that evidence is insufficient to establish the third
element of the School Committee’s burden of proof. Conse-
quently, we conclude that G. Romero mitigated her damages and
award her back pay from June 30, 1992 to January 22, 1997.

Interest

The Commission has considerable discretion under Section 11 of
the Law to fashion appropriate remedies, including awarding in-
terest on back pay awards. School Committee of Newton v. Labor
Relations Commission, 388 Mass. at 579-580. Here, the School
Committee urges the Commission to adopt M.G.L. ¢. 231, §6C°'
instead of M.G.L. c. 231, §6B® for both the rate and the method of
calculating interest on the make whole order. The School Commit-

60. If B. Tejeda had worked 40 hours per week at Burger King eaming $5.00 per
hour, she would have eamed gross pay in the amount of $200 per week compared to
her pay of $483.07 per week at the School Committee.

61. Section 6C provides in part: “In all actions based on contractual obligations, . ..
interest shall be added . . . to the amount of damages . . . at the rate of twelve per cent
per annum from the date of the breach or demand.™

62. Section 6B states in part: “Inany action. . . for personal injuries . . . there shall be
added. . . to the amount of damages interest thereon at the rate of twelve percent per
annum from the date of commencement of the action[.]”
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tee points out that both sections of the statute have the same rate of
interest - 12%. The School Committee argues, however, that the
method of calculating interest under §6C is more consistent with
the Commission’s holding in Everett Schoo! Committee, 10 MLC
1609 (1984), than the method of calculating interest under §6B. In
particular, the School Committee contends that the method of cal-
culating interest under §6C provides that interest be calculated
from the date that the employee lost use of the withheld money
rather than be calculated on the entire monetary award for the en-
tire period of time. However, it is unnecessary to adopt the method
of calculating interest pursuant to §6C, because the Commission
specifically noted in Everett School Committee that it diid not adopt
the same time period for accruing interest in §6B. Rather, the
Commission stated that it would continue to order interest to ac-
crue from the date of the monetary loss until the date of reimburse-
ment. Id. at 1613-1614 n.7. Accordingly, the School Committee’s
concem is unwarranted.®

The School Committee next requests that the Commission recon-
sider its decision to compound interest quarterly. The School
Committee contends that the statutory interest rate of 12% already
provides the affected employees with a windfall due to the current
lower prevailing interest rates, and that compounding interest pe-
nalizes employers. However, the Commission is well within its
discretion to order compound interest. Secretary of Administration
and Finance v. Labor Relations Commission, 434 Mass. 340,
347-348 (2001). Consequently, we order the School Committee to
pay 12% interest compounded quarterly.

Conclusion

We conclude that: 1) Burns, Fallon, Mullen, L. Tejeda, B. Tejeda,
F. Romero, and G. Romero are entitled to back pay from June 30,
1992 to January 22, 1997; 2) Carney is entitled to back pay from
June 30, 1992 to May 31, 1993; and 3) Bumns, Fallon, Mullen, L.
Tejeda, B. Tejeda, F. Romero, G. Romero, and Camney are entitled
fo interest on the back pay owed to them at the rate specified in
M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date they lost use of the money until
the date of reimbursement, except the periods from October 29,
1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December 14, 1999 to Janu-
ary 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner specified in
Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

Order

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, and pursuant to the au-
thority vested in the Commission by Section 11 of the Law, it is
" hereby ordered that the School Committee shall:

1. Pay to Bumns the amount of one hundred thirteen thousand eight
hundred seven dollars and ninety cents ($113,807.90) plus interest at
the rate specified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date Burns lost use
of the money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods
from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December
14, 1699 to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner
specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

CITE AS 29 MLC 155

2. Pay to Camney the amount of twenty-three thousand six hundred
seventy dollars and forty-three cents ($23,670.43)* plus interest at
the rate specifiedin M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date Camey lost use
of the money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods
from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December
14, 1999 to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner
specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

3. Pay to Fallon the amount of sixty-two thousand three hundred five
dollars and sixty-six cents ($62,305.66) plus interest at the rate spec-
ified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date Fallon lost use of the
money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods from Oc-
tober 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December 14, 1999
to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner specified
in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

4, Pay to Mullen the amount of ninety thousand four hundred
twenty-five dollars and forty-nine cents ($90,425.49) plus interest at
the rate specifiedin M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date Mullen lost use
of the money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods
from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December
14, 1999 to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner
specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

5. Pay L. Tejeda the amount of one hundred fourteen thousand nine
hundred seventy dollars and sixty-six cents ($114,970.66) plus in-
terest at the rate specified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date L.
Tejeda lost use of the money until the date of reimbursement, except
the periods from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from
December 14, 1999 to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in
the manner specified in Everert School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

6. Pay B. Tejeda the amount of one hundred four thousand five hun-
dred fifty dollars and sixty-six cents ($104,550.66) plus interest at
the rate specified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date B. Tejeda lost
use of the money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods
from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December
14, 1999 to January 18, 2000, compounded quarterly in the manner
specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

7. Pay F. Romero the amount of one hundred eleven thousand one
hundred seventy dollars and sixty-six cents ($111,170.66) plus in-
terest at the rate specified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date F.
Romero lost use of the money until the date of reimbursement, ex-
cept the periods from October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and
from December 14, 1999 to January 18, 2000, compounded quar-
terly in the manner specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC
at 1609.

8. Pay G. Romero the amount of ninety thousand eight hundred sev-
enteen dollars and sixteen cents ($90,817.16) plus interest at the rate
specified in M.G.L. c. 231, §6B from the date G. Romero lost use of
the money until the date of reimbursement, except the periods from
October 29, 1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December 14,
1999 to January 18, 2600, compounded quarterly in the manner
specified in Everett School Committee, 10 MLC at 1609.

SO ORDERED.
APPENDIX “A”

Thomas Burns
$114,970.66 - Gross back pay

63. According to the parties’ agreement, interest will not accrue from October 29,
1999 to November 30, 1999 and from December 14, 1999 to January 18, 2600.

64. This amount was derived by multib]ying 49 weeks (June 30, 1992-May 31,
1993) by Carney’s weekly rate of pay (3483.07).
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(1,162.76) - Interim earnings
$113,807.90 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “B”
James Camney
$114,970.66 - Gross back pay
(27,153.93) - Interim eamnings
$ 87,816.73 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “C”
Robert Fallon ’
$114,970.66 - Gross back pay
(52,665.00) - Interim eamnings
$ 62,305.66 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “D”
Thomas Mullen
$109,020.66 - Gross back pay
(18,595.17) - Interim eamings
$ 90,425.49 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “E”
Luis Tejeda
£114,970.66 - Gross back pay
None - Interim earnings
$114,970.66 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “F"
Berenice Tejeda
$114,970.66 - Gross back pay
(10,420.00) - Interim earnings
$104,550.66 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “G”
Fran Romero
$114,970.66 - Gross back pay
(3,800.00) - Interim earnings
$111,170.66 - Net back pay

APPENDIX “H”
Gesenia Romero ‘
$90,817.16 - Gross back pay

None - Interim eamnings SR

$90,817.16 - Net back pay



